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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

------------------------------------------------------ 2 

    CHAIRMAN:  Good morning, everyone.  3 

I'm David Barasch, Chairman of the Pennsylvania Gaming 4 

Control Board.  As always, I ask you to put your 5 

various electronic devices on silent.  That includes 6 

me.   7 

    Today - with us today, Fred 8 

Strathmeyer, representing Secretary Russell Redding, 9 

Department of Agriculture.  Jen Langan, representing 10 

Joe Torsella and Christin Heidingsfelder representing 11 

Revenue Secretary, Dan Hassell.  Thank you all for 12 

coming and for your involvement. 13 

    At this moment I'd like to point out 14 

the obvious.  I'd like to welcome our newest Board 15 

Member, Denise Smyler, who is joining us at our first 16 

public meeting.  Good morning, Denise. 17 

    MS. SMYLER:  Good morning, Mr. 18 

Chairman.  Thank you. 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  A quorum of the members 20 

being present, I'll call proceedings to order.  First 21 

order of business, the Pledge of Allegiance. 22 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE RECITED 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  By way of announcements, 24 

the Board held an Executive Session yesterday, 25 
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Tuesday, October 29th, to discuss personnel matters 1 

and to conduct quasi-judicial deliberations relating 2 

to various matters coming before the Board today. 3 

    I'd also like to announce that funding 4 

for the local Law Enforcement Grant Program under 5 

Section 1408 of the Act is being re-implemented in 6 

this fiscal year.  We will be posting updated 7 

guidelines for local law-enforcement agencies to apply 8 

for grants, to combat illegal gambling on our website. 9 

The date by which local enforcement agencies will need 10 

to apply for these grants shall be January 21st, 2020. 11 

Interested parties can get further details from our 12 

website. 13 

    First order of business today we have 14 

one Public Hearing scheduled and a Petition from 15 

Stadium Casino for Approval of a Sports Wagering 16 

Certificate and All Necessary Approvals and Authority 17 

to Conduct Sports Wagering.   18 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  Sorry for the delay.  We'll 20 

return to the record now.  I'd like to consider a 21 

motion to have the minutes and transcript of the 22 

September 4th, 2019 meeting -. 23 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 24 

that the Board approve the minutes and transcript of 25 
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the September 4th, 2019 meeting. 1 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 2 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 3 

AYES RESPOND 4 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 5 

adopted. 6 

    Kevin, there you are.   7 

    MR. O'TOOLE:  Good afternoon, Chairman 8 

Barasch. 9 

    Okay. 10 

    So, certainly, initially on behalf of 11 

Board staff, I would like to welcome Commissioner 12 

Smyler as a Commissioner on the Pennsylvania Gaming 13 

Control Board.  We look forward to working with you. 14 

    For my Executive Director's Report 15 

this morning, and in light of the fact that it is the 16 

second anniversary of Act 42 of 2017, I would like to 17 

give a brief overview of the implementation of 18 

expanded gambling in the Commonwealth. 19 

    Yesterday, the tenth approved truck 20 

stop establishment opened its Video Gaming Terminal 21 

room, offering five VGTs for play to the public.  22 

Although that was the most current initiative under 23 

Act 42 to be implemented, we are certainly moving 24 

forward at a very good pace in that regard to not only 25 
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ensure that only eligible truck stops are given 1 

approval, but to also ensure that the VGT rooms are - 2 

are newly-renovated areas and the machines are brand 3 

new machines that do have a significant amount of 4 

aesthetic appeal. 5 

    In addition to the VGT gambling, there 6 

currently are 12 Sportsbooks operating in Pennsylvania 7 

at ten casino facilities and two off-track betting 8 

locations.  Board staff has also implemented five 9 

online sports-wagering platforms and three 10 

interactive-gaming platforms.   11 

    Moving forward in the short term, 12 

Board staff anticipates, over the next three to six 13 

weeks, to implement additional online platforms, both 14 

in the areas of sports wagering and for interactive 15 

gaming activity.  And we are anticipating the 16 

implementation of Poker within those - within those 17 

online gaming platforms. 18 

    And with all of this new gambling 19 

options and gambling activity in Pennsylvania, it's 20 

certainly important to take note, as often as 21 

possible, the Board's commitment to responsible 22 

gambling.  And to ensure that our oversight of this 23 

new activity provides options to persons who feel that 24 

they may be gambling too much or may be spending too 25 
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much money.  And one of those key options is to give 1 

patrons the ability to self-exclude themselves.   2 

    We have initiated, as was mentioned in 3 

the past, three new Self-Exclusion Programs, one for 4 

interactive gaming, one for VGT gaming, and the third 5 

for fantasy contests activity.  All three of these new 6 

Self-Exclusion Programs are operational.  And there 7 

have been 50 enrollments in these programs to date, 8 

eight self-exclusions for fantasy contests, 28 for 9 

interactive gaming and 14 for VGT gaming. 10 

    So, with that, Chairman, I'll conclude 11 

my report for this morning.  Thank you. 12 

    MS. BIXLER-GEORGE:  Morning, Chairman, 13 

members of the Board.  The Office of Human Resources 14 

has one motion for your consideration today relative 15 

to the hiring of one individual.  Peter Ciarcello has 16 

been selected as a Casino Compliance Representative 17 

for the Parx Casino. 18 

    He has completed the interview 19 

process, background investigation and drug screening 20 

and is recommended for hire by Christopher Schroeder, 21 

Director of Casino Compliance, and Trevor Hassenbein, 22 

Senior Supervisor. 23 

    Unless you have questions, I ask the 24 

Board to consider a motion to hire Mr. Ciarcello as 25 
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indicated. 1 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions of comments from 2 

the Board?   3 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 4 

    MS. SMYLER:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, I 5 

move that the Board approve the Applicant for hire as 6 

proposed by the Human Resources Director. 7 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second. 8 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 9 

AYES RESPOND 10 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   11 

    The motion's adopted.  Thanks Danette. 12 

    MS. BIXLER-GEORGE:  Thank you. 13 

    CHAIRMAN:  David Rhen, Office of 14 

Financial Management. 15 

    MR. RHEN:  Good morning, Chairman and 16 

Board members.  Today I'm here to present an 17 

accounting of Board expenses for the first quarter 18 

ending September 30th. 19 

    First quarter expenditures totaled 20 

$8.6 million.  This was an increase of $163,000 or 1.9 21 

percent over - compared to the first quarter of last 22 

year.   23 

    Eighty-nine (89) percent of the 24 

expenditures were for payroll, which totaled $7.6 25 
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million for the quarter.  Salaries, overtime, leave 1 

payoffs total $4.6 million and benefits total $3.1 2 

million. 3 

    Payroll expenses were essentially flat 4 

from the prior due to timing differences.  Benefit 5 

expenses as percentage of salaries decreased slightly 6 

to 68 percent from 69 percent of salary expenses.   7 

    Operating a fixed asset expense 8 

combined total of $924,000 or 11 percent of overall 9 

expenses.  Expenditures increased by $155,000 and this 10 

was solely due to the timing of processing vendor 11 

invoices this year versus last year. 12 

    The largest operating fixed asset 13 

expenses were for services, which includes fingerprint 14 

fees and interagency billings at $345,000; rentals and 15 

leases at $335,000 and travel at $76,000.   16 

    That concludes my remarks. 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Dave.   18 

    Any questions, comments for Dave?  19 

Hearing none - oh, no, we don't have a motion.  Thanks 20 

so much. 21 

    MR. RHEN:  Thank you. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  I'm getting ahead of 23 

myself. 24 

    Good morning, Doug. 25 
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    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  Good morning, 1 

Chairman and members of the Board.  Our first Agenda 2 

item relates to a Regulation notice, which Assistant 3 

Chief Counsel, Chad Zimmermann, is here to present. 4 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  Good morning, 5 

Chairman, members of the Board. 6 

    What's before you is a Notice to 7 

Rescind and Amend Published Statements of Policy, 8 

which has been assigned Fiscal #125-227.  The reason 9 

for this Notice is that previously at a Public Hearing 10 

the Board adopted and promulgated Regulation Package  11 

#125-206, which touched on various aspects of Gaming 12 

Regulations. 13 

    Several of these aspects were 14 

previously adopted Statements of Policy that had been 15 

published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin.  As those have 16 

now been incorporated into the Regulations, they may 17 

be rescinded and deleted from the Pennsylvania Code, 18 

that is what this Notice achieves.  It also makes a 19 

minor modification to one other previously-adopted 20 

Statement of Policy that was published to bring it 21 

into conformity with the disposition of Abandoned and 22 

Unclaimed Property Act. 23 

    So, if there are any questions, I'm 24 

here to answer them.  If not, I would request a motion 25 
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to approve and adopt the Notice, which will be sent to 1 

the Legislative Reference Bureau and Budget for 2 

publishing. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thanks, Chad. 4 

    Are there any questions?   5 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 6 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move 7 

that the Board adopt the Notice #125-227 permitting 8 

the deletion and modification of previous adopted 9 

Statements of Policy described by the Office of Chief 10 

Counsel (OCC). 11 

    MR. LOGAN:  Second. 12 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 13 

AYES RESPOND 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   15 

    The motion is adopted. 16 

    ATTORNEY ZIMMERMANN:  Thank you. 17 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  Next before the 18 

Board are five Petitions.  One of the Petitions was 19 

heard earlier today during the Public Hearing, the 20 

remaining of the four Petitions will be decided based 21 

upon the documentary record. 22 

    Each of the matters, the Board has, in 23 

advance of this meeting, been provided all documents 24 

of record and evidentiary materials. 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

16

    The first matter is the Stadium 1 

Casino's Request for Approval to Conduct Sports 2 

Wagering.  This is the matter heard just immediately 3 

prior to the start of our normal business.  Should the 4 

Board approve the request for Sports Wagering 5 

Certificate, to be clear, it will not be authorizing 6 

the Licensee to commence the operation of sports 7 

wagering immediately, but rather sports wagering will 8 

begin only after staff has reviewed all aspects of the 9 

sports-wagering operation. 10 

    And to be clear, whether that be for 11 

retail operations or separately for online sports 12 

wagering, the casino must also complete a successful 13 

test period for both types of operations. 14 

    Additionally, as with all other prior 15 

Sports-Wagering Petitions the Board has heard, the OEC 16 

has requested a number of conditions that the casino 17 

and their operators will need to fulfill prior to 18 

commencing sports wagering. 19 

    This matter is now ready for the 20 

Board's consideration. 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Doug. 22 

    Are there any questions or comments 23 

for Counsel from the Board?   24 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 25 
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    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, subject to 1 

the conditions, which will be outlined in the Board's 2 

Order, I move that the Board grant Stadium Casino RE, 3 

LLC's Petition for a Sports Wagering Certificate, as 4 

it pertains to conducting sports wagering online prior 5 

to opening of a land-based casino, the operation of a 6 

land-based retail Sportsbook at its Category 2 7 

Facility in Philadelphia. 8 

    With respect to the Petitioner's 9 

Category 4 Facility, I move that the Board defer 10 

decision on that matter pending further deliberation 11 

by the Board.   12 

    Finally, I move that the party's 13 

request for confidentiality made in this matter be 14 

denied.   15 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 16 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 17 

AYES RESPOND 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   19 

    The motion is adopted. 20 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  The next matter is 21 

Mountainview Thoroughbred Racing Association's 22 

Petition for approval of a Sports Wagering Shared 23 

Service Agreement.  Mountainview is the Category 1 24 

Slot Machine Licensee and does business as Hollywood 25 
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Casino at Penn National Racetrack. 1 

    Mountainview has issued - was issued 2 

their Sports Wagering Certificate in October of 2018 3 

and now requested the Board approve a Shared Service 4 

Agreement between it and Sports Interactive. 5 

    Both Mountainview and Penn Sports 6 

Interactive are subsidiaries of Penn National Gaming, 7 

Incorporated.  Mountainview avers that the Shared 8 

Service Agreement will leverage the existing 9 

infrastructure and operations of each Penn subsidiary 10 

and will allow Mountainview to have access to the 11 

expertise and capabilities of Penn's Interactive 12 

Gaming Division. 13 

    The OEC has no objection to the 14 

relief, subject to the conditions outlined in their 15 

Answer.  And additionally, OEC has no objection to the 16 

request for confidentiality.  This matter is now ready 17 

for the Board's consideration. 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 19 

the Board?   20 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 21 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 22 

the Board grant Mountainview Thoroughbred Racing 23 

Association, LLC's Petition for a Sports Wagering 24 

Shared Services Agreement as described by the OCC. 25 
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    I further move that the request for 1 

confidentiality made in this matter be granted. 2 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 4 

AYES RESPOND  5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   6 

    The motion's adopted. 7 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  The next Petition 8 

before the Board today is the joint request from Accel 9 

Entertainment Gaming, LLC, Accel Entertainment, Inc. 10 

and TPG Pace Holdings Corporation.  The Petition seeks 11 

Board approval to change the ownership of Accel 12 

Entertainment Gaming, PA. 13 

    By way of background, in May of 2019 14 

Accel Entertainment Gaming PA, a wholly-owned 15 

subsidiary of Accel Entertainment, Inc. was issued a 16 

Conditional Terminal Operator License, to operate 17 

video gaming terminals in the Commonwealth. 18 

    Texas Pacific Corp. - or I'm sorry, 19 

Texas Pacific Group, a global investment company with 20 

17 offices in 9 countries, through a previously- 21 

created holding company, TPGH, has now entered into an 22 

agreement with the shareholders of Accel 23 

Entertainment, Inc. to effectuate the public listing 24 

of Accel through it. 25 
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    While the Act contemplates a new 1 

$5,000 licensing fee be paid when a change of 2 

ownership occurs, Section 3517(d) of the Act allows 3 

the Board to reduce the amount to be paid.  This is 4 

the first change of control of a terminal operator to 5 

come before the Board.   6 

    However, for changes of ownership of 7 

Slot Machine Licensees, the Board has recently charged 8 

a reduced license fee equal to 7.5 percent of the 9 

original license fee. 10 

    The OEC has no objection to the 11 

request for change of ownership, subject to several 12 

conditions set forth in their Answer.  And those 13 

conditions are primarily related to licensing 14 

requirements and the provision of transactional 15 

documents. 16 

    And with that explanation - the matter 17 

is now ready for the Board's consideration. 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 19 

the Board?  Hearing none, may I have a motion? 20 

    MS. REITZEL:  Mr. Chairman, I move 21 

that the Board grant Accel Entertainment Gaming PA, 22 

LLC, Accel Entertainment, Inc. and TPG Pace Holding 23 

Corporation's Joint Petition for Approval of a Change 24 

of Ownership or Control of a Terminal Operator 25 
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Conditional Licensee as described by the OCC. 1 

    I would further move that a $375 2 

Change of Control Fee be imposed. 3 

    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 4 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 5 

All in favor? 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   7 

    The motion is adopted. 8 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  Next before the 9 

Board is Mustafa Whitfield's Petition to be removed 10 

from the Board's Involuntary Exclusion List.  On 11 

January 11th, 2016 the OEC filed a Petition to place 12 

Mr. Whitfield on the Exclusion List after being 13 

notified that he was criminally charged with stealing 14 

purses from patrons in Harrah's parking garage on two 15 

separate occasions. 16 

    Mr. Whitfield, who was incarcerated at 17 

the time of OEC's filing, was served a copy of the 18 

Petition while he was incarcerated.  19 

    Mr. Whitfield contacted OEC in 20 

February of 2016, requesting copies of the 21 

surveillance footage and reports associated with the 22 

Petition.  And at that time he was informed that the 23 

Board would hold a hearing in the matter following his 24 

release from prison. 25 
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    In September of 2016 Mr. Whitfield 1 

contacted the Office of Hearings and Appeals (OHA) 2 

indicating that he no longer wanted a hearing.   3 

    On September 21st of 2016 all charges 4 

against Mr. Whitfield were dropped.  However, he never 5 

responded to OEC's Petition, thereby resulting in the 6 

admission of all facts alleged within the Petition.  7 

And the Board placed Mr. Whitfield on the Exclusion 8 

List in November of 2016.   9 

    OEC has no objection to Mr. 10 

Whitfield's current request to be removed from the 11 

list, since all of the criminal charges have been 12 

nolle prossed and expunged.  However, since Mr. 13 

Whitfield has not contested the facts in the case and 14 

therefore the facts are deemed admitted under 15 

Regulation.  It's within the Board's discretion to 16 

grant or deny his request. 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 18 

the Board?   19 

    Hearing none, is there a motion? 20 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 21 

that the Board grant Mustafa Whitfield's Petition for 22 

Removal from the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List as 23 

described by the OCC. 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  Is there a second? 25 
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    MS. SMYLER:  With great reluctance and 1 

reservation, I will second the motion. 2 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 3 

AYES RESPOND 4 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   5 

    The motion is adopted. 6 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  The final Petition 7 

before the Board today is George Brown, III's request 8 

to Lift the Suspension of his Gaming Employee 9 

Occupation Permit.   10 

    Mr. Brown was employed as a Table Game 11 

Dealer at Parx Casino.  And in May of this year the 12 

OEC filed a request for an Emergency Order of 13 

Suspension after receiving notice that Mr. Brown had 14 

been charged in five different cases with crimes 15 

involving numerous assault-related offenses, four of 16 

which were felonies.     17 

    Each case listed was on the same date 18 

and at the same location.  And it appears as though he 19 

was involved in a large fight involving multiple 20 

people. 21 

    The Emergency Order suspending Mr. 22 

Brown's permit was signed by the Executive Director on 23 

May 21st of this year.  A hearing was held and in 24 

August of 2019, the Board issued an Order directing 25 
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the suspension remain in effect. 1 

    In September of 2019 Mr. Brown filed a 2 

Petition to Lift the Suspension of his permit, 3 

indicating that he did not commit the crimes he was 4 

charged with.  He was protecting a friend from being 5 

attacked and that, in fact, the charges had been 6 

withdrawn for insufficient evidence. 7 

    OEC has no objection to the request, 8 

and that's the matter now before the Board. 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 10 

the Board?   11 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 12 

    MS. SMYLER:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 13 

the Board grant George Brown, III's Petition to Lift 14 

the Suspension of his Gaming Employee Occupation 15 

Permit as described by the OCC. 16 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second. 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 18 

AYES RESPOND 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   20 

    The motion is adopted. 21 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  Next, presenting 22 

Withdrawals and Surrenders as well as Reports and 23 

Recommendations is Deputy Chief Counsel Steve Cook. 24 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Good morning.  The 25 
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Board has received several unopposed Petitions to 1 

withdraw the applications or surrender the credentials 2 

of the following individuals and businesses; Snyder's 3 

Gateway, Inc., John R. Bittner, James Bittner, Alice 4 

Bittner, Michael Miller, John M. Bittner, Steve 5 

Bittner, the L. Frank Bittner Article QSST Trust for 6 

the benefit of Alice Bittner, Marc J. Rowan, Mindy 7 

Miller, C Win Technology, LLC, Matthew Brown, Sandra 8 

Danielle Beaver, Patti S. Hart, Flemming Pedersen and 9 

Klas Winberg. 10 

    The OEC has no objections to any of 11 

these Withdrawals as a result.  If the Board grants 12 

them, they'd be doing so without prejudice to each of 13 

these persons or entities. 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 15 

the Board?   16 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 17 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move 18 

that the Board issue an Order to approve the 19 

Withdrawals and Surrenders as described by the OCC. 20 

    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 22 

AYES RESPOND 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   24 

    The motion's adopted. 25 
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    ATTORNEY COOK:  Next before the Board 1 

for consideration are five Reports and Recommendations 2 

received from the OHA.  I would note at the outset 3 

that there are actually six listed on the Agenda, but 4 

the individual identified as F.M., who petitioned for 5 

removal from the Voluntary Self-Exclusion List, 6 

contacted me this morning and asked that the matter be 7 

deferred until November, so he can appear to briefly 8 

address the Board.  So, we'll accommodate him and pass 9 

over that today. 10 

    So, we'll proceed with five Reports 11 

and Recommendations.  These Reports and 12 

Recommendations, along with the complete evidentiary 13 

record for each proceeding, have been provided to the 14 

Board in advance of each meeting - of this meeting.  15 

And additionally, as I just indicated with respect to 16 

F.M., each of these individuals have been notified 17 

that the Board would be taking the matter up today.  18 

And if they wanted to briefly address the Board, they 19 

should come forward when the matter is called. 20 

    Jiffy Mart, Inc. is the first Report 21 

and Recommendation before the Board today.  Jiffy Mini 22 

Mart is located in Shippenville, PA.  In May of 2018 23 

it filed an application for a Video Gaming Terminal 24 

Establishment License.  The Board granted Jiffy Mini 25 
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Mart and its Principals conditional licensure in 1 

August of 2018, while a more thorough investigation 2 

was undertaken. 3 

    On February 13th of 2019, the OEC sent 4 

a Notice of Recommendation of Denial to Jiffy Mini 5 

Mart, stating that it did not meet the statutory 6 

definition of a truck stop establishment, because it 7 

did not average more than 50,000 gallons of diesel 8 

fuel or biodiesel fuel sales each month in the 9 

previous 12 months and did not provide sufficient 10 

evidence, at that time, to show projections that it 11 

would exceed that threshold in the upcoming 12 months. 12 

    Sales of 50,000 gallons per month is 13 

required in order to be eligible to have the Video 14 

Gaming Terminal License at their facility. 15 

    On February 22nd, 2019 Jiffy Mini Mart 16 

requested a hearing.  Thereafter, Commonwealth Gaming, 17 

LLC, a Video Gaming Terminal Operator that Jiffy Mini 18 

Mart contracted with to operate their VGTs filed a 19 

Petition to Intervene, which was granted. 20 

    The hearing in this matter was held on 21 

May 9th, 2019.  And during that hearing Jiffy Mini 22 

Mart presented testimony from the majority owner of 23 

the Mini Mart, Hirdayapal Gill and from Robert 24 

Terrill, an expert witness that conducts Site 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

28

Feasibility Studies for gas stations and grocery 1 

stores. 2 

    Mr. Gill, the owner, testified as to 3 

his efforts to grow the Mini Mart and increase sales. 4 

He stated they - he's investigated significantly in 5 

the business and has plans to increase future sales 6 

with the installation of a large LED price display 7 

sign, visible on interstate 80, by adding brand name 8 

fast-food restaurant, by arranging to accept credit 9 

cards used by trucking companies and by adding diesel 10 

exhaust fluid dispensers to his diesel pumps. 11 

    Mr. Gill stated that during 2018 his 12 

sales of diesel averaged 38,476 gallons, but he 13 

believes his plan will increase this figure to more 14 

than 50,000 gallons each month.  Mr. Terrill, the 15 

expert witness retained in this case by Jiffy Mini 16 

Mart confirmed a Site - or performed a Site 17 

Feasibility Study, which included suggestions to 18 

assist in increasing diesel fuel sales.  These 19 

suggestions were largely consistent with Mr. Gill's 20 

testimony.   21 

    And Mr. Terrill also testified that 22 

the implementation of his recommendations would 23 

increase the Mini Mart's diesel fuel sales to at least 24 

53,000 gallons per month soon after implementation, 25 
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with an expected increase to reach 125,000 gallons per 1 

month, which - within one year.   2 

    This matter is now ready for the 3 

Board's consideration.  I would note for the record 4 

that Jiffy Mart's Counsel, Mr. Diehl, is present.  I 5 

presume he'd like to address the Board. 6 

    ATTORNEY DIEHL:  Yes.  May it please 7 

the Board, Chairman, members of the Board, respect to 8 

my colleagues at OEC and Chief Counsel's Office. 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  Could you lean into the mic 10 

or push the mic towards you? 11 

    ATTORNEY DIEHL:  I'll certainly do so.  12 

    My name is Tom Diehl, D-I-E-H-L, and 13 

as indicated I'm here on behalf of Jiffy Mini Mart and 14 

Commonwealth Gaming.   15 

    As a threshold matter, Mr. Gill 16 

regrets that he was unable to be here.  He had a 17 

family - he intended to be here but had a family 18 

member - a family issue with his daughter in Virginia.  19 

    And despite the herculean efforts of 20 

PGCB staff and Rich McGarvey, we just couldn't pull 21 

together the ability to have him participate by 22 

videoconference. 23 

    That said, I'm going to say a few 24 

words on Mr. Gill's behalf.  The issue has been framed 25 
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here, I think appropriately and accurately by Counsel 1 

Cook.  It's narrow.  The Pennsylvania Gaming Control 2 

Board's OEC and Jiffy Mini Mart agree on the vast 3 

majority of the issues.   4 

    Every element in the definition of a 5 

truck stop has been met, except for the one issue that 6 

is now contested.  And that is whether or not the 7 

projections for the gallonage of diesel sales will 8 

meet the 50,000 threshold.  So, in that regard, this 9 

is a real world truck stop.  When you think and - 10 

think in terms of what a truck stop looks like, that's 11 

what Mr. Gill's business looks like. 12 

    It has got - it has islands, it has 13 

patrons who are truckers.  It has been in that regard 14 

for years.  Moreover, Mr. Gill is a real world owner. 15 

This is a family-owned truck stop.  This is a minority 16 

family-owned truck stop.  His wife owns five percent 17 

of it, but she will assure you that she does more than 18 

five percent of the work.   19 

    Mr. Gill is - is not a corporate 20 

conglomerate.  He's not a publicly-traded company.  21 

When he started his business, he started with one 22 

station.  He now owns five.  This facility that we're 23 

talking about here today, when he remodeled it - it 24 

was a service station that he reconverted into a truck 25 
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stop in 2015, it sold zero gallons of diesel fuel.  He 1 

sold the first gallon of diesel fuel at this 2 

establishment. 3 

    So, if you're seeing a pattern with 4 

Mr. Gill, he starts small, he thinks big and he works 5 

his shop every day in between.   6 

    In the hearing that we had earlier in 7 

May of this year, Counsel Cook made reference to 8 

expert testimony that was put forth by Jiffy Mini Mart 9 

in the form of Robert Terrill's testimony.  We submit 10 

that, technically, there was two experts.  We had the 11 

expert opinion of Mr. Gill, who has ran truck stops 12 

from start to finish.   13 

    And then there was the expert 14 

testimony of Mr. Terrill that is your - an expert in 15 

the conventional sense.  This is someone that is an 16 

expert in the industry that you would hire to come in 17 

and render an opinion. 18 

    And just as an aside, Mr. Terrill has 19 

rendered Feasibility Studies for 26 years.  He's 20 

rendered hundreds of them on behalf of convenience 21 

stores that sell fuel that with truck stops with 22 

national brands, such as Pilot, Turkey Hill and 23 

Krogers.  If he's not an expert in the issue of fuel 24 

projections, there is not an expert. 25 
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   That said, he provided unrebutted evidence 1 

during that hearing, as did Mr. Gill, but Mr. Terrill 2 

indicated several improvements that Mr. Cook had 3 

referred to, such as a large sign, a sign that you 4 

would be able see from the highway.  Partnering with a 5 

branded restaurant, such as a Subway, accepting fleet 6 

cards that are nationally acceptable, the main ones, 7 

sort of the - by analogy, the Visa and MasterCard’s of 8 

truck driving for fuel sales.   9 

    Mr. Gill is a guy that gets things 10 

done.  And my favorite part of that proceeding was the 11 

one that I had the least amount of control over.  At 12 

one point, Mr. Gill reaches into his pocket and he 13 

holds up his phone, because he wants the Hearing 14 

Officer to see the 60 foot - a rendering of the 60 15 

foot sign that he wants to put on that you'll be able 16 

to see from the highway. 17 

    And again, it was a bit of a mess for 18 

counsel involved, because, you know, we had 19 

evidentiary issues and that type of thing, but Mr. 20 

Gill wanted to make it a point that he was serious 21 

about what he was doing moving forward. 22 

    That was in May.  Today there is a  23 

60-foot LED sign in front of his property, that he's 24 

put there at the personal expense of $95,000 to 25 
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himself.  Again, that is not - $95,000 to a publicly- 1 

traded company; that is to an individual and to a 2 

family business. 3 

    That is the level of commitment that 4 

Mr. Gill has to this project, to his wife and to his 5 

26 employees.  And just as a quick aside, we made 6 

reference it was in Shippensville, Pennsylvania.  By 7 

the 2017 - Shippensville - not Shippensburg, 8 

Shippensville, Pennsylvania, was 451 people.  So, when 9 

you're employing 26 people in that area, not 10 

necessarily at that shop, but across his five stores, 11 

that's not an insignificant employer in the area. 12 

    But at any rate, with respect to the 13 

other - the other amenities that he wanted to add, he 14 

has - he's accepting all major fleet cards at this 15 

point.  The sign is performing, as consistent with Mr. 16 

Gill's - I'm sorry, Mr. Terrill's testimony.  It has 17 

increased in sales.  He has not implemented, yet, the 18 

Subway.  He's still in negotiations with them.   19 

    Again, he's got to divide his time, 20 

because he's the owner and operator of five different 21 

locations.  So, it does take time to bring those type 22 

of things - bring those type of things to bear. 23 

    That said, let me conclude with this, 24 

the General Assembly, likewise, put forth a sign, 25 
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almost as conspicuous as the 60-foot one that Mr. Gill 1 

has in front of his place.  I would submit that sign 2 

was when they put projections into the language of the 3 

Statute.  That's kind of unusual and that should 4 

surprise you. 5 

    If you go through the thousand-plus 6 

pages of Statute and Regulation - we don't see 7 

projections that frequently.  We see specific numbers 8 

enumerated.  Projections in this case, I submit, were 9 

not put in there for the Flying J.  They're not put in 10 

there for Pilot, they're not put in for Goliath.   11 

    The projections were put in for David. 12 

They were put in for the small guys, the Mr. Gills, 13 

the guys that - that start small, they plan big and 14 

they work their shop every single day in between. 15 

    One of the amenities that I did not 16 

mention, which is, I think, the elephant in the room, 17 

that's why we're here is the VGTs.  Okay? 18 

    Mr. Gill, in his - I'm sorry, Mr. 19 

Terrill, in his unrebutted evidence during the 20 

hearing, said that one amenity alone, in his 21 

estimation, his expertise, would put Mr. Gill over the 22 

top with respect to the 50,000 gallon - 50,000 gallon 23 

threshold. 24 

    Mr. Gill is the type of man that can 25 
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take an image from his cell phone and turn it into a 1 

60-foot reality in front of his place, but he cannot, 2 

without your help, and without your aid, put a 3 

terminal in his property. 4 

    You heard in the Public Hearing 5 

earlier today where a Category 2, slash, Category 4 6 

Applicant said they baked into their - their 7 

application and their financial considerations, 8 

certain expectations on how they interpreted the Regs. 9 

Okay?  Mr. Gill's no different.  His expectation was 10 

that part of his projections would include VLTs 11 

    So, the only thing that we would ask 12 

today is when you make your determination, we would 13 

request that you would extend the same shot - the same 14 

advantage to Mr. Gill that the General Assembly 15 

intended to him, that give him the opportunity to have 16 

his seat at the table with the expansion of gaming, 17 

such that he can use in his projections as well. 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you. 19 

    ATTORNEY DIEHL:  I thank you. 20 

    ATTORNEY TEPPER:  Good afternoon, Mr. 21 

Chairman.  OEC has a brief statement. 22 

    The OEC respectfully requests that the 23 

Board should interpret the Video Gaming Act in a way 24 

that places heavier weight on the actual fuel sold by 25 
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a truck stop establishment rather than on projections  1 

    The OEC is of the opinion that these 2 

projections should be considered when the Applicant 3 

does not yet have a full 12 months of diesel or 4 

biodiesel fuel sales for the Board to rely upon.  That 5 

is not the case today. 6 

    Jiffy Mini Mart has been operating for 7 

several years in both the 12 months supplying for its 8 

VGT Truck Stop Establishment License and the 12 months 9 

before that, they did not come close to meeting the 10 

requirement that they sell an average of 50,000 11 

gallons of diesel or biodiesel per month over a  12 

12-month period. 13 

    Despite the projections which they 14 

provided, between when they applied for a Truck Stop 15 

Establishment License and when the evidentiary record 16 

closed in this matter, Jiffy Mini Mart did not sell an 17 

average of 50,000 gallons of diesel or biodiesel per 18 

month within a 12-month period. 19 

    If the Board were to place great 20 

weight on projections from an Applicant that has a 21 

history of operations and a history of not selling the 22 

requisite amount of diesel or biodiesel fuel, the OEC 23 

believes that it would create a great deal of 24 

uncertainty in the VGT industry and allow Applicants 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

37

to pull projected fuel sales out of thin air, when 1 

actual fuel sales fall below the statutory minimum. 2 

    In such instances, it is highly likely 3 

that the OEC would be back before the Board seeking to 4 

revoke or suspend the license when the establishment 5 

does not meet their projection to sell an average of 6 

50,000 gallons of diesel or biodiesel fuel per month. 7 

Thereby, creating a nightmare situation of musical 8 

chairs for the gaming industry, the Commonwealth and 9 

the Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board. 10 

    If the Board wishes to place great 11 

weight on future diesel sales or biodiesel fuel sales 12 

from establishments who have a history of operations 13 

of sales, the OEC respectfully requests that the Board 14 

interpret the term projection, consistent with our 15 

position, as outlined in the extensive filings and 16 

records in this matter. 17 

    That is, the projections needs 18 

articulate, with specificity, each method that the 19 

Applicant will use to increase fuel sales and an 20 

approximate amount of each method in which fuel sales 21 

will increase.  22 

    For these reasons, as well as the 23 

reasons set forth in the record before the Board, the 24 

OEC requests that the Board deny Jiffy Mini Mart's 25 
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application for an establishment license.  However, if 1 

the Board does not wish to deny Jiffy Mini Mart's 2 

application, the OEC requests that the Board extend 3 

Jiffy Mini Mart's Conditional License in order to 4 

determine if they will sell an average of 50,000 5 

gallons of diesel or biodiesel fuel per month during 6 

that time. 7 

    Thank you.  And we will be glad to 8 

answer your questions. 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you. 10 

    Are there any questions for Counsel?  11 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 12 

    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 13 

the Board reject the requested denial of Jiffy Mini 14 

Mart, Inc.'s Video Gaming Terminal License Application 15 

conditioned on substantial compliance with the 16 

recommendation of Petitioner's expert witness as will 17 

be outlined by the Board's Order. 18 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 20 

AYES RESPOND 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   22 

    The motion is adopted. 23 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The next matter to be 24 

heard by the Board is the Report and Recommendation 25 
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regarding Thaddeus Marshall.  In March of 2018 Mr. 1 

Marshall was issued a Gaming Employee Occupation 2 

Permit and was employed as a Table Games Dealer at the 3 

Hollywood Casino of Penn National Race Course. 4 

    On August 8th, 2019, the OEC filed a 5 

request for an Emergency Suspension of Mr. Marshall's 6 

Gaming Employee Occupation Permit after receiving 7 

notice that he had been charged with conspiracy to 8 

commit theft by deception and conspiracy to commit 9 

access device fraud.   10 

    Specifically, it is alleged that Mr. 11 

Marshall and his mother stole and used a credit card 12 

belonging to his grandmother, making purchases and 13 

withdrawals totaling over $17,000. 14 

    As a result of these charges and OEC's 15 

request, the Board's Executive Director issued an 16 

Emergency Order suspending Mr. Marshall's Gaming 17 

Permit.  A hearing in this matter was held on August 18 

28th of 2019.  OEC appeared offering testimony and 19 

documentary evidence into the record, supporting the 20 

criminal charges.   21 

    Mr. Marshall appeared at the hearing, 22 

testifying only that he would - that he had been 23 

misinformed or that he had been informed that the 24 

charges were eventually going to be reduced from 25 
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felonies to misdemeanors.  He did not discuss at all 1 

the factual allegations that led to the criminal 2 

charges.   3 

    And as of this date, the charges 4 

pending against him remain felonies.  And as a result 5 

the Report and Recommendation issued recommends the 6 

suspension remain in place. 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 8 

the Board?   9 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 10 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 11 

the Board adopt the Report and Recommendation issued 12 

by the OHA regarding the suspension of Thaddeus 13 

Marshall's Gaming Employee Occupation Permit as 14 

described by the OCC. 15 

    CHAIRMAN:  Is there a second? 16 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 18 

AYES RESPOND 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   20 

    The motion's adopted. 21 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Passing over the F.M. 22 

Report and Recommendation, as I indicated earlier, the 23 

next two Reports and Recommendations both pertain to 24 

Requests for Removal -. 25 
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    CHAIRMAN:  Steve, could you just hold 1 

for a second.   2 

    Doug, I need to talk to you for a 3 

second. 4 

--- 5 

(WHEREUPON, AN OFF RECORD DISCUSSION WAS HELD.) 6 

--- 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  Sorry about that.  Please 8 

continue, Steve. 9 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  The next two Reports 10 

and Recommendations pertain to requests for removal 11 

from the Board's Self-Exclusion List.  Both of these 12 

requests come from individuals who chose the lifetime 13 

Self-Exclusion option.   14 

    I would note for the record that the 15 

Board has started the process of amending its 16 

Regulations to allow for a Petition process whereby a 17 

person who chooses a lifetime self-exclusion can 18 

petition for removal from the list after ten years has 19 

passed since their placement on the list, as long as 20 

certain conditions were met.   21 

    This Regulation is not yet finally 22 

promulgated.  And in any event, neither of these next 23 

two cases I'm going to summarize would reach that  24 

ten-year threshold. 25 
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    So, the first of those two Reports and 1 

Recommendations pertains to J.P.'s Request for Removal 2 

from the Board's Voluntary Exclusion List.  As a 3 

result of this request, the hearing was held before 4 

the Board's OHA on August 1st, 2019.  The OEC appeared 5 

at the hearing, offering testimony and documentary 6 

evidence.  J.P. appeared at the hearing as well and 7 

testified on his own behalf. 8 

    The evidence presented at the hearing 9 

established that on June 11th, 2015 J.P. entered the 10 

Mohegan Sun at Pocono Downs Casino and requested to be 11 

placed on the Self-Exclusion List.  The Casino 12 

Compliance Representative, or CCR, who placed J.P. on 13 

the list testified that he conducted the mandatory 14 

interview, explained the process of being on the list, 15 

the consequences of the three exclusion period options 16 

being 15 - one year, five years or a lifetime.  And he 17 

completed all the required paperwork and procedures. 18 

    Thereafter J.P. signed the 19 

acknowledgement form, selecting a lifetime exclusion. 20 

At the hearing, J.P. testified that he placed himself 21 

on the list because his wife threatened to leave him 22 

and seek alimony if he did not place himself on the 23 

list for a lifetime period. 24 

    He further testified that he told the 25 
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CCR that his wife had threatened him in this matter.  1 

Upon examination, however, the CCR indicated that that 2 

was never told to him.  And if it was, he would have 3 

stopped the process out of concern that the person was 4 

being coerced. 5 

    Ultimately, the Report and 6 

Recommendation issued in this hearing found that J.P. 7 

is not eligible for removal from the lifetime  8 

Self-Exclusion List, and that is the recommendation 9 

before the Board. 10 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you. 11 

    Any questions or comments from the 12 

Board?   13 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 14 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 15 

that the Board adopt the Report and Recommendation 16 

issued by the OHA regarding J.P.'s Petition for 17 

Removal from the PGCB Voluntary Self-Exclusion List as 18 

described by the OCC. 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  Is there a second? 20 

    MS. SMYLER:  Second. 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 22 

AYES RESPOND 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   24 

    The motion's adopted. 25 
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    ATTORNEY COOK:  The next matter before 1 

the Board pertains to M.K.'s request to be removed 2 

from the lifetime Self-Exclusion List.  Pursuant to 3 

the Findings of Fact of the Report and Recommendation 4 

issued in this matter, on February 11th, 2016, M.K. 5 

entered the Hollywood Casino Penn National Race Course 6 

and requested to be placed on the Self-Exclusion List. 7 

The Casino Compliance Representative on duty placed 8 

M.K. on the list after following all the required 9 

protocols and procedures.  Thereafter, M.K. signed an 10 

acknowledgment form selecting the lifetime  11 

self-exclusion period. 12 

    On March 26th of 2019, approximately 13 

three years later, M.K. filed a Request for Removal 14 

from the Self-Exclusion List.  The OEC objected and a 15 

hearing was held on July 25th, 2019.   16 

    OEC, once again, appeared, presenting 17 

evidence about the process leading to M.K.'s placement 18 

on the list.  M.K. appeared and testified on his own 19 

behalf, testifying that he has impulsivity issues, 20 

attends therapy and takes medication with his 21 

impulsiveness.  He stated that he was not taking his 22 

medication at the time he placed himself on the list, 23 

and that it was an impulsive decision.  He did not 24 

believe, however, that his impulsiveness issues would 25 
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- would impact him negatively if he were allowed to 1 

continue gaming.   2 

    The Report and Recommendation issued 3 

subsequent to the hearing found that M.K. is not 4 

eligible for approval from the list under the Board's 5 

present Regulations, and that is the recommendation to 6 

the Board? 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 8 

the Board?   9 

    Hearing none, is there a motion? 10 

    MS. SMYLER:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, I 11 

move that the Board adopt the Report and 12 

Recommendation issued by the OHA regarding M.K.'s 13 

Petition for Removal from the PGCB Voluntary  14 

Self-Exclusion List as described by the OCC. 15 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second. 16 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 17 

AYES RESPOND 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion is 19 

adopted. 20 

    ATTORNEY COOK:  Furan Zhu's matter is 21 

the final Report and Recommendation before the Board 22 

today.  In January of 2019 the OEC filed a Petition 23 

requesting that Mr. Zhu be placed on the Board's 24 

Involuntary Exclusion List, alleging that in May of 25 
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2018 he cheated while gaming at the Meadows Casino. 1 

Specifically while playing Mini Baccarat, he past 2 

posted a $25 wager and a $300 wager.   3 

    As a result of that conduct, Mr. Zhu 4 

was permanently evicted from the Meadows.  He was 5 

later charged with gaming-related offenses, and those 6 

charges remain pending.   7 

    Additionally, it was determined at the 8 

hearing that this was Mr. Zhu's second incident of 9 

cheating at a Pennsylvania casino.  And he previously 10 

received a warning letter from the OEC after an 11 

incident in 2015 at the Mohegan Sun Casino at Pocono 12 

Downs. 13 

    A hearing was held on August 7th, 14 

2019.  OEC appeared offering evidence.  Despite 15 

receiving proper notice, Mr. Zhu did not appear at the 16 

hearing, and as a result presented no evidence.  Based 17 

on the evidence that was presented, the Hearing 18 

Officer recommended that Mr. Zhu be placed on the 19 

Involuntary Exclusion List. 20 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 21 

the Board?  Hearing none, may I have a motion? 22 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move 23 

that the Board adopt the Report and Recommendation 24 

issued by the OHA regarding the placement of Furan Zhu 25 
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on the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List described by 1 

the OCC. 2 

    MR. LOGAN:  Second. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 6 

adopted. 7 

    ATTORNEY SHERMAN:  And that concludes 8 

the matters of the OCC. 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you. 10 

    Hi, Sue. 11 

    MS. HENSEL:  Thank you, Chairman 12 

Barasch and members of the Board. 13 

     Before the Board today will be two 14 

Video Gaming Terminal Operator Licenses, six Video 15 

Gaming Terminal Establishment Licenses, one Video 16 

Gaming Terminal Procurement Agent License and one 17 

Conditional Sports Wagering Operator License. 18 

    In addition, there will be 1,067 19 

Principal, Key Qualifier, Gaming and Non-Gaming 20 

Employees.  Finally there will be the consideration of 21 

seven Gaming Service Provider Registrations. 22 

    The first matter before you are - the 23 

first matters before you are VGT Operator Licenses for 24 

Commonwealth Gaming, LLC, doing business as 25 
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Commonwealth Gaming and J&J Venture Gaming of 1 

Pennsylvania, LLC, doing business as J&J Venture 2 

Gaming PA.  3 

    A VGT operator owns, services or 4 

maintains VGTs for placement and operation at truck 5 

stops.  Both Commonwealth Gaming and J&J Venture 6 

Gaming PA were previously issued Conditional VGT 7 

Licenses. 8 

    The Bureau of Investigations and 9 

Enforcement (BIE) has completed its investigations of 10 

both companies and the Bureau of Licensing has 11 

provided you Background Investigations and Suitability 12 

Reports.  I have provided the Board with Draft Orders 13 

and ask that you consider, first, the order to license 14 

Commonwealth Gaming, LLC, doing business as 15 

Commonwealth Gaming. 16 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 17 

has no objection. 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 19 

the Board?   20 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 21 

    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 22 

the Board grant the Video Gaming Terminal Operator 23 

License for Commonwealth Gaming, LLC, doing business 24 

as Commonwealth Gaming as described by the Bureau of 25 
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Licensing. 1 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 2 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 3 

AYES RESPOND 4 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   5 

    The motion's adopted. 6 

    MS. HENSEL:  Next is J&J Venture 7 

Gaming of Pennsylvania, LLC, doing business as J&J 8 

Venture Gaming PA.   9 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 10 

has no objection. 11 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 12 

the Board?  Hearing none, may I have a motion? 13 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 14 

the Board grant the Video Gaming Terminal Operator 15 

License for J&J Venture Gaming of Pennsylvania, LLC, 16 

doing business as J&J Venture Gaming PA as described 17 

by the Bureau of Licensing. 18 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 20 

AYES RESPOND 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   22 

    The motion's adopted. 23 

    MS. HENSEL:  In addition, we have 24 

consideration of VGT Establishment Licenses for six 25 
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establishment entities.  VGT establishments are truck 1 

stops seeking to place VGTs in their businesses.  Each 2 

of these Applicants has been conditionally licensed.   3 

    The BIE has completed its 4 

investigations, including evaluation that the 5 

Applicants meet the VGT establishment eligibility 6 

criteria.  The Bureau of Licensing has provided you 7 

with Background Investigation and Suitability Reports. 8 

    Once fully licensed, the 9 

establishments can continue forward toward completing 10 

the steps necessary to commence VGT gaming.  I have 11 

provided you with Draft Orders and ask that you 12 

consider the Orders to license first, CHR Corporation, 13 

doing business as Rutter's, Rutter's Store 16, which 14 

is located at 362 North Main Street in York County. 15 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 16 

has no objection. 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 18 

the Board?   19 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 20 

    MS. REITZEL:  Mr. Chairman, I move 21 

that the Board grant the Video Gaming Terminal 22 

Establishment License for CHR Corp., doing business as 23 

Rutter's Store #16 as described by the Bureau of 24 

Licensing. 25 
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    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 1 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 2 

AYES RESPOND 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   4 

    The motion's adopted. 5 

    MS. HENSEL:  Next are two Sandhoo's, 6 

Inc.'s entities, doing business as First Liberty 7 

Exxon, located at 8489 Route 414, Liberty and Second, 8 

Lawrenceville Exxon located at 13305 Highway 49 in 9 

Lawrenceville. 10 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 11 

has no objection. 12 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 13 

the Board?   14 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion?   15 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 16 

that the Board grant the Video Gaming Terminal 17 

Establishment Licenses for Sandhoo's, Inc., doing 18 

business as Liberty Exxon and Lawrenceville Exxon as 19 

described by the Bureau of Licensing. 20 

    MS. SMYLER:  Second. 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 22 

AYES RESPOND 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   24 

    The motion's adopted. 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

52

    MS. HENSEL:  Next there are United 1 

Refining Company of Pennsylvania, doing business as 2 

Kwik Fill entities.  The entities are Kwik Fill #226, 3 

located at 73 Rolling Stone Road, Kylerville (sic). 4 

Kwik Fill #200, located at 1001 East Spring Street in 5 

Titusville and Kwik Fill #229, located at 5574 PA-8 6 

Harrisville. 7 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 8 

has no objection.   9 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 10 

the Board.   11 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 12 

    MS. SMYLER:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 13 

the Board grant the Video Gaming Terminal 14 

Establishment Licenses for United Refining Company of 15 

Pennsylvania, doing business as Kwik Fill #226, Kwik 16 

Fill #200 and Kwik Fill #229 as described by the 17 

Bureau of Licensing. 18 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second. 19 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 20 

AYES RESPOND 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   22 

    The motion's adopted. 23 

    MS. HENSEL:  The next matter for your 24 

consideration is a license for VGT Procurement Agent 25 
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Applicant, Commonwealth America, LLC.  Commonwealth 1 

America, LLC is currently conditionally licensed.  A 2 

procurement agent negotiates Terminal Placement 3 

Agreements on behalf of a VGT Terminal Operator for 4 

placement of VGTs in truck stop establishments. 5 

    The BIE has completed its 6 

investigation and the Bureau of Licensing has provided 7 

you with the Background Investigation and Suitability 8 

Report.   9 

    I have provided you with a Draft Order 10 

and ask that you consider the Order to license 11 

Commonwealth America, LLC as a Procurement Agent.   12 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 13 

has no objection. 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 15 

the Board?   16 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 17 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move 18 

that the Board grants Commonwealth America, LLC VGT 19 

Procurement Agent License as described by the Bureau 20 

of Licensing. 21 

    MR. LOGAN:  Second. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 23 

AYES RESPOND 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   25 
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    The motion's adopted. 1 

    MS. HENSEL:  Also, for your 2 

consideration is a Conditional Sports Wagering 3 

Operator License for Crown PA Gaming, Inc., doing 4 

business as DraftKings.   5 

    Crown PA Gaming, Inc. is a Boston, 6 

Massachusetts-based company that proposes to operate 7 

sports wagering on behalf of at least one Sports 8 

Wagering Certificate Holder.  The Board may issue a 9 

Conditional Sports Wagering Operator License provided 10 

the Applicant has submitted a completed application, 11 

agrees to pay the licensing fee prior to license 12 

issuance and the BIE does not object to the license.  13 

The Applicant satisfies these criteria.  14 

    I ask that the Board consider the 15 

Order to conditionally license Crown PA Gaming, Inc., 16 

doing business as DraftKings, as a Sports-Wagering 17 

Operator. 18 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 19 

has no objection. 20 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 21 

the Board?   22 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 23 

    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 24 

the Board grant the Conditional Sports Wagering 25 
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License for Crown PA Gaming, Inc., doing business as 1 

DraftKings as described by the Bureau of Licensing. 2 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   6 

    The motion's adopted. 7 

    MS. HENSEL:  Next are one year license 8 

extensions for Conditionally Licensed Sports - for a 9 

Conditionally Licensed Sports Wagering Operator and a 10 

Conditionally Licensed VGT Establishment.  The 11 

companies were each granted a one-year Conditional 12 

License approximately one year ago.   13 

    Under the Gaming Act and Board 14 

Regulations, the Board is authorized to extend the 15 

licenses for an additional one year for good cause.  16 

In each case, the Background Investigation and 17 

Suitability Report process for the company is 18 

continuing.  I ask that the Board grant one-year 19 

extensions to the following companies. 20 

    First, American Wagering, Inc., which 21 

is conditionally licensed as a Sports Wagering 22 

Operator. 23 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 24 

has no objection.   25 
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    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 1 

the Board?   2 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 3 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 4 

the Board grant the extension for Conditional Licenses 5 

as described by the Bureau of Licensing. 6 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 8 

AYES RESPOND 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   10 

    The motion's adopted. 11 

    MS. HENSEL:  And next is Pipeline 12 

Petroleum, Inc., which is conditionally licensed as a 13 

VGT Establishment. 14 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 15 

has no objection. 16 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 17 

the Board?   18 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 19 

    MS. REITZEL:  Mr. Chairman, I move 20 

that the Board grant the Principal and Key Employee 21 

Licenses and a Gaming -. 22 

    MR. MUSTIO:  That's the wrong one.  I 23 

think we should -. 24 

    MS. HENSEL:  Yeah, they should have 25 
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both been rolled into one motion. 1 

    MR. MUSTIO:  They should have been in 2 

one motion, yeah. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  Yeah.  They were. 4 

    You did it already, so -. 5 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Well, we didn't -. 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  Where are we? 7 

    MR. MUSTIO:  We voted before she made 8 

the -. 9 

    MS. HENSEL:  We voted before we named 10 

both.  So, it's the same motion.   11 

    Why don't we do it again? 12 

    And this motion will include American 13 

Wagering, Inc. and Pipeline Petroleum, Inc. - 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  Okay. 15 

    MS. HENSEL:  - for one-year 16 

extensions. 17 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 18 

the Board grant the extension for Conditional Licenses 19 

as described by the Bureau of Licensing. 20 

    CHAIRMAN:  Fine.   21 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  Is there a second?   23 

    All in favor? 24 

AYES RESPOND 25 
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    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 1 

adopted. 2 

    MS. HENSEL:  Also for your 3 

consideration are Principals, a Key Employee and a 4 

Gaming Service Provider Qualifier.  Prior to this 5 

meeting the Bureau of Licensing provided you with a 6 

Proposed Order for two Principals, one Key Employee 7 

and one Gaming Service Provider Qualifier.  I ask that 8 

the Board consider the Order approving the licenses 9 

and qualification. 10 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 11 

has no objection. 12 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 13 

the Board?   14 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 15 

    MS. REITZEL:  I move that the Board 16 

grant the Principal and Key Employee Licenses and a 17 

Gaming Service Provider Qualification as described by 18 

the Bureau of Licensing. 19 

    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 20 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 21 

AYES RESPOND 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   23 

    The motion's adopted. 24 

    MS. HENSEL:  There are also Temporary 25 
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Licenses for your consideration.  Prior to this 1 

meeting, the Bureau of Licensing provided you with an 2 

Order regarding the issuance of Temporary Licenses for 3 

3 Principal and 19 Key Employees.  I ask that the 4 

Board consider the Order approving the licenses. 5 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 6 

has no objection. 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 8 

the Board?   9 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 10 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 11 

that the Board grant the Temporary Principal and Key 12 

Employee credentials as described by the Bureau of 13 

Licensing. 14 

    MS. SMYLER:  Second. 15 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 16 

AYES RESPOND 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   18 

    The motion's adopted. 19 

    MS. HENSEL:  Additionally there are 20 

Gaming Permits and Non-Gaming Registrations.  Prior to 21 

this meeting the Bureau of Licensing provided you with 22 

a list of 793 individuals to whom the Bureau has 23 

granted Temporary or Full Occupation Permits and 201 24 

individuals to whom the Bureau has granted 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

60

Registrations under the authority delegated to the 1 

Bureau of Licensing. 2 

    I ask that the Board consider a motion 3 

approving the Order. 4 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 5 

has no objection. 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 7 

the Board?   8 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 9 

    MS. SMYLER:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 10 

the Board grant the Gaming Employee Occupation Permits 11 

and Non-Gaming Employee Registrations as described by 12 

the Bureau of Licensing. 13 

    CHAIRMAN:  Is there -? 14 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second.  Oh, sorry. 15 

    CHAIRMAN:  That's fine.  Go ahead. 16 

    All in favor? 17 

AYES RESPOND 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   19 

    The motion's adopted. 20 

    MS. HENSEL:  There are also 21 

recommendations of denial for two Gaming Employee 22 

Applicants.  The Applicants were notified that they 23 

were being recommended for denial and failed to 24 

request a hearing within the specified timeframes. 25 
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    The Bureau of Licensing has provided 1 

you with Orders addressing each of the Applicants, who 2 

the OEC has recommended for denial.  I ask that the 3 

Board consider the Orders approving the Denials. 4 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 5 

continues to request denial in each instance. 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 7 

the Board?   8 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 9 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move 10 

that the Board deny the Gaming Employee Occupation 11 

Permit Applicant's as described by the Bureau of 12 

Licensing. 13 

    MR. LOGAN:  Second. 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 15 

AYES RESPOND 16 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   17 

    The motion's adopted. 18 

    MS. HENSEL:  Next for consideration 19 

are Withdrawal Requests.  In each case the license, 20 

permit or registration is no longer required.  For 21 

today's meeting, I have provided the Board with a list 22 

of four Key Employees, 29 Gaming Employees and 5  23 

Non-Gaming Employees.  24 

    I ask that the Board consider the 25 
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Orders approving the list of Withdrawals. 1 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 2 

has no objection. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 4 

the Board? 5 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 6 

    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 7 

the Board grant the Withdrawal of Key, Gaming and  8 

Non-Gaming Employee Applications as described by the 9 

Bureau of Licensing. 10 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 11 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 12 

AYES RESPOND 13 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   14 

    The motion's adopted. 15 

    MS. HENSEL:  Finally, for your 16 

consideration are Gaming Service Provider 17 

Registrations.  The Bureau of Licensing provided you 18 

with an Order and attached list of seven Registered 19 

Gaming Service Provider Applicants. 20 

    I ask that the Board consider the 21 

Order registering these Gaming Service Providers.   22 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Enforcement Counsel 23 

has no objection. 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 25 
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the Board? 1 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion.   2 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 3 

the Board approve the Gaming Service Provider 4 

Registration Applications as described by the Bureau 5 

of Licensing. 6 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 8 

AYES RESPOND 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 10 

adopted. 11 

    MS. HENSEL:  That concludes the 12 

matters of Bureau of Licensing. 13 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Sue. 14 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  The OEC will present 15 

12 matters today for the Board's consideration, in 16 

which we'll request the Board's approval of two 17 

Consent Agreements, two Revocations, two Suspensions 18 

and six Involuntary Exclusions. 19 

    The next matter on the Agenda for the 20 

Board's consideration is a Consent Agreement between 21 

the OEC and Category 1 Licensee Downs Racing, LP, 22 

doing business as Mohegan Sun Pocono.  The Consent 23 

Agreement will be presented by Assistant Enforcement 24 

Counsel John Crohe.  Representatives from Mohegan Sun 25 
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are present, and at this time, I'd request that those 1 

individuals introduce themselves for the record and be 2 

sworn. 3 

    ATTORNEY SORIANO:  Good afternoon, Mr. 4 

Chairman, members of the Board.  Christopher Soriano, 5 

S-O-R-I-A-N-O, with Duane Morris, LLP, Counsel to 6 

Downs Racing. 7 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Good afternoon.  Tony 8 

Carlucci, GM at Pocono Downs.  C-A-R-L-U-C-C-I.   9 

    MR. CHRZAN:  Good afternoon, Ron 10 

Chrzan, C-H-R-Z-A-N, Director of Compliance, Mohegan 11 

Sun Pocono. 12 

    MR. KARPENSKE:  Donald Karpenske,  13 

K-A-R-P-E-N-S-K-E, Director of Surveillance. 14 

--- 15 

WITNESSES SWORN EN MASSE 16 

--- 17 

    ATTORNEY CROHE:  Good afternoon, 18 

Chairman and members of the Board.  John Crohe,  19 

C-R-O-H-E, for the OEC.   20 

    The next matter on the Agenda for the 21 

Board's consideration is a Consent Agreement reached 22 

between Mohegan Sun Pocono and the OEC regarding 23 

underage gaming violations. 24 

    First, on June 23rd, 2018, an underage 25 
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individual, who is 17 years of age at the time of this 1 

incident, entered the facility without being stopped 2 

or asked to provide identification and was on the 3 

Gaming Floor for approximately ten minutes and gamed 4 

at one slot machine.  The underage individual was 5 

permanently banned from the facility.   6 

    Next on October 20th, 2018, an 7 

underage individual, who was 18 years of age at the 8 

time of this incident, entered the facility with what 9 

was later discovered to be a false identification 10 

card, was on the Gaming Floor for approximately one 11 

hour, gamed at seven slot machines and utilized a 12 

ticket redemption unit.  The underage individual was 13 

permanently banned from the facility.   14 

    Next on January 11th, 2019 an underage 15 

individual, who was 19 years of age at the time of 16 

this incident, entered the facility without being 17 

stopped or asked to provide identification.  Was on 18 

the Gaming Floor for approximately one hour and gamed 19 

at one electronic table game.  The underage individual 20 

was permanently banned from the facility.   21 

    Finally, between December 30th, 2018 22 

and January 5th, 2019 an underage individual accessed 23 

the Gaming Floor with what was later discovered to be 24 

the legitimate identification of another individual, 25 
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gamed and was served alcohol numerous times during 1 

that seven-day period. 2 

    On the seven different dates that - 3 

the underage individual was permitted to access the 4 

Gaming Floor at Mohegan Sun Pocono, the underage 5 

individual spent a total of 52 hours and five minutes 6 

on the Gaming Floor, played two table games, played 7 

194 slot machines, was served 11 alcoholic beverages, 8 

conducted 8 cage transactions and was issued three 9 

Player's Club cards.  The underage individual was also 10 

permanently banned from the facility. 11 

    The OEC and Mohegan Sun Pocono 12 

respectfully request that the Board approve the 13 

Consent Agreement and stipulations of settlement that 14 

Mohegan Sun Pocono pay a civil penalty of $110,000, as 15 

well as a $2,500 administration fee for costs incurred 16 

by the Board staff in connection with the 17 

investigations into this matter. 18 

    ATTORNEY SORIANO:  Good afternoon, Mr. 19 

Chairman and Commissioners.  On behalf of Downs 20 

Racing, Downs Racing accepts the findings set forth in 21 

the Stipulation of Settlement, and accepts and 22 

requests that the Board approve the Consent Agreement, 23 

including the stipulated fine. 24 

    The witnesses who are with me, will 25 
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provide some brief background to the Board on the 1 

incidents, and more specifically on some lessons 2 

learned and some improvements that have been 3 

implemented to try to avoid circumstances like this 4 

happening in the future. 5 

    With respect to the first three 6 

instances identified by the OEC, those are situations 7 

where errors were made on the part of staff.  8 

Procedures are in place to identify underage gamblers. 9 

Obviously it's something that's taken incredibly 10 

seriously. 11 

    Investigation has revealed that steps 12 

could have been taken by personnel who are on duty and 13 

those steps were not taken.  And Mr. Chrzan will talk 14 

about how that's been addressed. 15 

    The fourth instance that was mentioned 16 

by the OEC is the subject of the - of the settlement, 17 

is a bit more complex of a matter, in that this was a 18 

person who presented a legitimate identification of a 19 

person who, in the view of the security personnel, who 20 

took a look at it, looked - they looked very similar 21 

in terms of appearance.   22 

    It's a bit harder of a problem to 23 

solve, and occasionally something like this could 24 

happen.  Mr. Carlucci will give you, though, some 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

68

feedback on what exactly has been implemented in terms 1 

of some strategies to try to combat this problem from 2 

happening again, but this is, I would suspect, 3 

slightly more difficult problem when people look 4 

alike. 5 

    But that said, we take this matter 6 

very, very seriously and are here to, again, admit 7 

responsibility, accept responsibility, not make 8 

excuses, but the witnesses will provide the Board with 9 

some feedback on steps that are being taken in the 10 

future. 11 

    CHAIRMAN:  Fine.  Thank you. 12 

    ATTORNEY SORIANO:  Mr. Carlucci? 13 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Yeah.  Mr. Chairman, 14 

Commissioners.  Commissioner Smyler, welcome. 15 

    MS. SMYLER:  Thank you. 16 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Wish it was better 17 

circumstances, of course.  The fourth - the first 18 

three occurrences, obviously, you know, employees have 19 

failed to do what they're supposed to do.  So, we're 20 

putting them through retraining.  Ron will talk about 21 

the appropriate form of discipline that we issue. 22 

    The fourth one, as Chris mentioned, 23 

we're not making excuses.  We have to go forward and 24 

figure out how we're going to fix this, but 31 25 
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different employees carded this particular minor.  And 1 

31 different employees felt that she looked enough 2 

like that person on that ID that they let the person 3 

through. 4 

    Looking at it, myself, you know, as we 5 

all know, honestly, you know, my Pennsylvania license 6 

was three years ago, and I'd love to say I'm thinner, 7 

but I'm not.  Okay.  I'm a little heavier.  And I have 8 

a lot more gray hair since taking this position.  So, 9 

there's going to be times that they don't look exactly 10 

alike, but 31 different employees looked at that 11 

through training and we've done that.  Right?  And 12 

felt that this employee should go on the floor or 13 

game, I'm sorry.   14 

    MR. LOGAN:  Enforcement Counsel, how 15 

are they supposed to - I mean, how are they supposed 16 

to distinguish these two?  I mean, I see the 17 

identification card, the hair is parted on the same 18 

side. 19 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Eyes are blue in one, 20 

and they're fake. 21 

    MR. LOGAN:  What color eyes do I have? 22 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  From here, brown or 23 

hazel, but if you were standing up next to me, I could 24 

look at them and tell you for sure, for certain.  The 25 
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eyes are brown and hazel in the individual who was 1 

underage.  She also has fuller lips than the 2 

individual in the photo.  She also has an oval face, 3 

thinner hair. 4 

    There are questions that they could 5 

have asked the individual to see the way she was 6 

discovered when they asked her a question.  She 7 

couldn't answer a question that was similar to answer 8 

the question that matched what was on the 9 

identification. 10 

    So, if I'm a Security Guard at a 11 

stanchion post, and my sole job is to question whether 12 

or not somebody is underage, I'm paying particular 13 

attention to their identification, the eye color of 14 

the individual.  They're three inches in height 15 

different.  So, there are several things that they 16 

could have questioned this individual about just on 17 

sight 18 

    We took it into consideration - that's 19 

why the fine is as low as it is.  I personally believe 20 

if they didn't look like it would be higher - we've 21 

had individuals that have looked alike.  We've had 22 

sisters that use the same identification two years 23 

apart.  We never fine the casinos in those instances, 24 

because we see the similarities in the identification 25 
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that was presented and the individual who was caught. 1 

So, we look at that to determine whether or not those 2 

individuals matched the identification. 3 

    In this case - in my opinion, it's 4 

pretty straightforward.   5 

    MR. LOGAN:  Hindsight, no pun 6 

intended, is always 20/20. 7 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  And I do want to 8 

stress, I'm not here to argue the consent.  I'm 9 

accepting responsibility.  I just wanted to get 10 

clarification on that. 11 

    MR. LOGAN:  Okay. 12 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Because again, we have 13 

to move forward.  It's responsibility - we understand 14 

responsibility of the State and our casino.  And Cyrus 15 

is actually right, what we did to say, strengthen our 16 

staff, being that this happened, is that we started 17 

asking questions.   18 

    Now, we started with people 25 and - 19 

that looked 25 and under, in all honesty, because if 20 

we carded - like, if we started asking questions to 21 

everybody, we're going to lose - you know, the State's 22 

going to lose revenue, we're going to lose business, 23 

so we're looking at 25 as the age to start. 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  Just to make sure.  I know 25 
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what you're saying, but for the public record, you're 1 

going to lose business because it'll slow down people 2 

coming into the casino. 3 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Okay.  That's fine. 4 

    CHAIRMAN:  You don't want to leave 5 

that just hanging out there.  I understand what you 6 

were trying to say. 7 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Yeah, I just look at 8 

it, we have to start somewhere and obviously with our 9 

successes.  And we're doing - the questions that we're 10 

asking, because Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania is not a 11 

gigantic place and there's a lot of colleges around.  12 

And word will get out that we're asking these 13 

questions.  And what they'll start doing is they'll 14 

start telling people different things, so we're 15 

changing the questions up as well. 16 

    We're asking questions like on - you 17 

know, we're going to get into things like questions of 18 

the month, questions of the week, what is your zodiac 19 

sign.  You know, you should be able to answer that 20 

like that, but not everyone can.  Where do you live?  21 

But a lot of our team members also know these 22 

addresses, so they may say, what's the name of that 23 

pizzeria right down the street from your house?  You 24 

know, we're trying to get as unique as possible, 25 
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because Mr. Chairman, it's a challenge.  I'm just 1 

being frank. 2 

    You know, looking at eye color real 3 

quick, Cyrus is absolutely right.  I'm not here to 4 

contend that, but things change.  People put contacts 5 

in their eyes that are different colors.  Again, hair 6 

colors change in - for everybody, you know, again.  7 

So, we're trying to be as - you know, as diligent as 8 

possible in doing this. 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  If I could, just - yeah, I 10 

looked at this and hear everything you're saying, but 11 

noticing whether somebody has heels on or not might 12 

have solved the three or four inches of height.  I 13 

don't know what you're doing about that?  To me, 14 

that's the one that's kind of hard to get around. 15 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Right. 16 

    CHAIRMAN:  And I don't know what, in 17 

your training you do to try to figure out how tall 18 

somebody is. 19 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Not yet, but we'll have 20 

to get there.  To actually, be honest in all full 21 

disclosure, I didn't - until Cyrus said that, that 22 

wasn't one of the things that I was thinking of.   23 

    Because after this happened, we got 24 

together and we didn't - again, no excuses, what can 25 
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we do.  What do we need to do here?  So, the questions 1 

is something that we're going forward with and asking. 2 

    The second thing we did is we're - in 3 

January, we're - a new Director of Security will be 4 

starting with us.  He's a former Sergeant with the 5 

State - I'd rather not mention his name today, but 6 

he's a former Sergeant with the Pennsylvania State 7 

Police. 8 

    And we're doing that as - and our 9 

existing Director is just moving over to slots.  No 10 

one's losing their job, it's just a matter of beefing 11 

up people that have a lot more experience in doing 12 

this than I certainly have.  Right?  And in our 13 

discussions, there's some unique things that he feels 14 

he can do that are further straight than that.  And 15 

plus his relations, quite frankly, with the State 16 

Police on property and everyone else. 17 

    And then, finally, we did have a 18 

Reward Program in place.  Right?  That we had last 19 

time.  Right?  And I just want to go - say that we, as 20 

of Monday, there - hopefully, we can make it.  I don't 21 

want to jinx them.  Okay?  We've gone a hundred days 22 

and all of our Security Guards will get a bonus for 23 

going a hundred days without any minor -. 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  Well, we're pulling for you 25 
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on that one. 1 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  Trust me, we're pulling 2 

for it, too.  I don't like sitting up here.  No 3 

offense to any of you. 4 

    And then, Ron will tell you, 5 

obviously, we have a lot of successes.  We stop a lot 6 

of people.  And I know that's not what the issue is, 7 

but we've stopped a lot more people than what the 8 

property has ever done before.  9 

    We take this matter very serious.  And 10 

again, we're not contending the Consent Agreement -. 11 

    CHAIRMAN:  Anything else? 12 

    MR. LOGAN:  Can I just ask a question? 13 

So, between December 30th, 2018 - and I know you're 14 

not going to be able to give me an exact number.  On 15 

January 5th, 2019, how many people came through your 16 

casino? 17 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  I'm going to defer that 18 

to Ron. 19 

    MR. CHRZAN:  Sure.  Our patron count 20 

for the month of January was approximately 122,000, so 21 

you know, doing that math, you're talking, roughly, 22 

30,000 people, probably. 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  Can I - Jen has a question. 24 

    MR. LOGAN:  Sure.  Sure.  I -. 25 
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    CHAIRMAN:  I didn't know if you had 1 

more. 2 

    MR. LOGAN:  Oh, I'm perplexed by this, 3 

but -. 4 

    MS. LANGAN:  I'm just wondering, Mr. 5 

Carlucci - I'm from Scranton, so I understand why 6 

you're talking about the colleges.  Has the casino 7 

reached out to the colleges and told them - you know, 8 

tried to discourage college students from coming out 9 

and tried to partner with the colleges?  Because 10 

sometimes you get in trouble at colleges for things 11 

you do offsite. 12 

    MR. CARLUCCI:  And that is one of the 13 

things that the new Director of Security has 14 

recommended.  And he has relationships with the 15 

colleges, so we will be doing that.   16 

    CHAIRMAN:  Are there other - I'm 17 

sorry, where are we?  Is there anything else that you 18 

had to add at this point? 19 

    ATTORNEY SORIANO:  Mr. Chrzan wanted 20 

to add a few.  And Mr. Karpenske wanted to briefly 21 

point out a few points. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  Okay. 23 

    MR. CHRZAN:  Thank you. 24 

    Just a few points.  I wanted to just 25 
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touch on the repercussions to the Security Officers 1 

who let the individuals through.  In count one, both 2 

of the Security Officers who let the underage person 3 

pass were issued final written warnings.  It was the 4 

first time they had any blemish on the record.   5 

    On count number two, the Security 6 

Officer was terminated.  He did use the scanning ID 7 

technology, as he should have.  He scanned it, it 8 

showed a red X on the screen and he still permitted 9 

them to enter the floor.  So, he was terminated.   10 

    In count three we also terminated that 11 

Security Guard for not properly carding and allowing 12 

somebody to enter the floor.  13 

    So, I just wanted to touch on that.  14 

And then, kind of, just as you had referenced before, 15 

Mr. Commissioner, we have some patron counts and some 16 

stats here, just to add some color to it.     17 

    Approximately - we scan approximately, 18 

300,000 IDs a year going through these scanners.  19 

Since 2016, we've increased the percentage of the 20 

number of patrons we have been scanning, just because 21 

of the use of technology and the awareness and the 22 

additional training associated with underage 23 

individuals. 24 

    In 2016 we scanned roughly 11 percent 25 
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of people who entered our floor were carded.  That is 1 

now up to - we're trending at just over 18 percent in 2 

2019.  So, there's been a significant increase. 3 

    And also, year to date, we have turned 4 

away nearly 1,400 people who have tried to enter and 5 

were either found to have a false identification or 6 

were just found to be underage.  So, we have really 7 

been training staff and taking additional measures. 8 

    And the final point I wanted to touch 9 

on was some of the things we've done internally to 10 

limit this from happening again.  We've certainly 11 

enhanced the training with our entire team.  We have - 12 

at the main entrance to our facility, it used to be a 13 

very wide area.  It was approximately 50 feet wide.  14 

    We have moved our security podium back 15 

and narrowed that entrance back to 26 feet wide, just 16 

- and now we have two Security Guards stationed there 17 

full time.  So, that is just - it just makes it a lot 18 

more difficult for somebody to come through and avoid 19 

the line of sight of a Security Officer.  And those 20 

are some of the measures we have done.   21 

    And as Tony had mentioned, the 22 

additional questioning, the questions that we're going 23 

to change up on a weekly basis if we need to, we're 24 

going to make sure that we are challenging these folks 25 
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and making sure they have answers and could answer 1 

quickly to our questions. 2 

    CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much. 3 

    ATTORNEY SORIANO:  Mr. Karpenske, did 4 

you -? 5 

    MR. KARPENSKE:  So, Mr. Chairman, 6 

Board, the Surveillance Department also takes this 7 

very seriously.  We all work for the same company, and 8 

so we've started working with the Security Department, 9 

a while ago now.  And each time somebody is identified 10 

as being underage and trying to access the floor, the 11 

Security Department will call my department, and we'll 12 

identify that person, sometimes in lower light, you 13 

know people leave, they try to change their jacket or 14 

their clothes. 15 

    We then start monitoring the rest of 16 

the casino floor for a second attempt.  A second 17 

attempt is made and we will contact Security again.  18 

Security will make sure that they leave the property 19 

as quickly at that point.   20 

    So, we're also trying to assist as 21 

much as we can, because we understand those entrances 22 

get busy, there's lower light levels and you can alter 23 

your - your looks pretty quickly getting denied at one 24 

entrance and take another shot at another entrance.   25 
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So, -. 1 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  Thank you. 2 

    Are there any other questions from the 3 

Board at this time? 4 

    MR. LOGAN:  Yeah.  So, for Enforcement 5 

Counsel, I've scoured our Consent Agreements on these 6 

type of incidents.  Is it - is it the fourth count?  7 

It seems unusually high to me.  Is it the fourth count 8 

that raises it substantially to the 110 level?  I 9 

can't find, kind of, a similar issue. 10 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  The fourth count for 11 

each day of access is a $10,000 count, a $10,000 day. 12 

    MR. LOGAN:  Yeah. 13 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  And then you have the 14 

alcohol service and the distribution of the Players' 15 

Cards, which we've added another $10,000 for that.  16 

So, that - the fourth count is the big one.  The 17 

others are $10,000 a count. 18 

    MR. LOGAN:  Is there any - do we need 19 

to follow up or does the casino follow up?  I mean, 20 

this individual obviously had this person's 21 

identification card.  Was it stolen?  What 22 

responsibility do we have? 23 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  That would be the 24 

State Police's responsibility.   25 
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    MR. LOGAN:  Did they do anything? 1 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  They confiscate the 2 

identification from the individual. 3 

    ATTORNEY CROHE:  The underage 4 

individual was also charged with a summary offense of 5 

presenting the identification of another individual, 6 

to which she ultimately pled guilty. 7 

    MR. LOGAN:  Okay. 8 

    I think it's unusually high.  I'll 9 

vote no, just for the record. 10 

    CHAIRMAN:  May I have a motion, 11 

please? 12 

    MS. SMYLER:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 13 

the Board approve the Consent Agreement between the 14 

OEC and Downs Racing, LP as described by the OEC. 15 

    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 16 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 17 

AYES RESPOND 18 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   19 

NOES RESPOND 20 

    CHAIRMAN:  The motion's adopted.   21 

    Thank you very much for coming in. 22 

    ATTORNEY SORIANO:  Thank you, Mr. 23 

Chairman, Commissioners. 24 

    MR. LOGAN:  I was a no, Pam. 25 
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    MR. KERNODLE:  Pam.  1 

    MR. SANTONI:  Pam, she was a no also. 2 

    MR. KERNODLE:  She said no also. 3 

    MS. LEWIS:  So, we had Denise motion, 4 

Santoni second and then no was Sean Logan and Merritt. 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  Yes. 6 

    MS. LEWIS:  Thank you. 7 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  The next matter on 8 

the Agenda for the Board's consideration is a Consent 9 

Agreement between the OEC and Category 1 Licensee 10 

Washington Trotting Association, LLC, doing business 11 

as the Meadows Casino.   12 

    The Consent Agreement will be 13 

presented by Assistant Enforcement Counsel Thomas 14 

Monaghan.  Representatives from the Meadows are 15 

present.  I'd request non-attorney witnesses please 16 

stand and be sworn.  State your name for the record. 17 

--- 18 

WITNESSES SWORN EN MASSE 19 

--- 20 

    CHAIRMAN:  Could each of you please 21 

state and spell your names? 22 

    MR. KOWALSKI:  Ben Kowalski, Vice 23 

President of the Casino Operations.  That's,  24 

K-O-W-A-L-S-K-I.   25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

83

    MR. HVIZDA:  And Alex Hvizda, Director 1 

of Compliance -. 2 

    MR. KOWALSKI:  Am I too fast?  I'm 3 

sorry. 4 

    COURT REPORTER:  No, I heard you. 5 

    MR. KOWALSKI:  Oh, okay. 6 

    MR. HVIZDA:  And Alex Hvizda, Director 7 

of Compliance, H-V-I-Z-D-A. 8 

    ATTORNEY MONAGHAN:  Good afternoon.  9 

Thomas Monaghan, M-O-N-A-G-H-A-N, with the OEC.   10 

    The next matter for the Board's 11 

consideration is a Consent Agreement between 12 

Washington Trotting Association and the OEC regarding 13 

incidents involving two employees working on expired 14 

Gaming Licenses.   15 

    The first incident occurred between 16 

June 9th, 2018 and September 10th, 2018.  On or about 17 

September 17, 2018, the Bureau of Licensing completed 18 

a review regarding the Meadows failing to submit 19 

employee's G2 Employee Occupation Permit Renewal 20 

Application in a timely manner. 21 

    The investigation revealed that the 22 

employee's G2 Employee Occupation Permit expired on 23 

June 9th, 2018, but the Renewal Application was not 24 

submitted by the Meadows until September 10th, 2018.  25 
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The Bureau of Casino Compliance conducted a compliance 1 

review, which revealed that the employee continued to 2 

work while his permit was expired. 3 

    The investigation revealed that 4 

between June 9, 2018 a separate - September 10, 2018 5 

the employee worked 70 days on an expired permit.   6 

    The second incident involves a Table 7 

Games Dealer working on an expired permit for two 8 

days.  On or about May 5th, 2019 the - or yeah, 2019, 9 

the Bureau of Casino Compliance was contacted by a 10 

Table Games Shift Manager regarding a Table Games 11 

Dealer with an expired Gaming Permit. 12 

    The Bureau of Casino Compliance 13 

conducted a compliance review, which revealed that the 14 

Table Games Dealer failed to renew his Gaming Permit 15 

prior to his expiration on May 2nd, 2019 and that the 16 

Table Games Dealer worked as a Dealer at the Meadows 17 

on May 3rd and May 4th, 2019 with an expired permit. 18 

    On May 24, 2019 a Renewal Application 19 

for the Table Games Dealer was submitted by the 20 

Meadows.   21 

    At this time the OEC requests that the 22 

Board approve this Consent Agreement between the 23 

parties.  The terms of the settlement include within 24 

five days of the Board approving this Consent 25 
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Agreement, the Meadows shall pay a civil penalty of 1 

$10,000, an administration fee in the amount of 2 

$2,500.   3 

    If you have any questions, I'm 4 

available at this time.   5 

    CHAIRMAN:  Any questions or comments 6 

from the Board on this?   7 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 8 

    I don't know if you wish to speak.  If 9 

you don't wish -. 10 

    MR. HVIZDA:  I'll just give you ten 11 

seconds.   12 

    CHAIRMAN:  Okay. 13 

    MR. HVIZDA:  Just very briefly, Mr. 14 

Chairman, Commissioners.  Since this occurred, the 15 

Meadows has been brought into Penn's HR system, which 16 

allows better tracking of license expirations.  And 17 

we've also - we've also instituted a progressive 18 

discipline system beginning six months before your 19 

license will expire, such that if you would get up to 20 

the point where your license would expire, you'll 21 

already be terminated for - pursuant to the 22 

progressive discipline. 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much. 24 

    Is there a motion? 25 
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    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 1 

that the Board approve the Consent Agreement between 2 

the OEC and Washington Trotting Association as 3 

described by the OEC. 4 

    MS. SMYLER:  Second. 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor?  6 

AYES RESPOND 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   8 

    The motion's adopted. 9 

    MR. HVIZDA:  Thank you. 10 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  The next four matters 11 

on the Agenda consist of enforcement actions in which 12 

the OEC filed complaints seeking the revocation of one 13 

Gaming Employee Occupation Permit and one Gaming Level 14 

Two Occupation Permit - Occupation Permit, as well as 15 

the suspension of one Gaming Employee Occupation 16 

Permit and one Non-Gaming Employee Registration, which 17 

were all issued by the Board. 18 

    Each complaint has been filed with the 19 

Board's OHA and properly served upon the person named 20 

in the Complaint.  The person named in each Complaint 21 

failed to respond within 30 days, as required by Board 22 

Regulation.  As a result, the OEC filed a request for 23 

default judgment and properly served the same upon 24 

each named person.   25 
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    Therefore, the facts in each Complaint 1 

are deemed admitted.  All filed documents have been 2 

provided to the Board, and the matters are presently 3 

ripe for the Board's consideration.  In each instance, 4 

we'll provide a brief summary of the facts, and 5 

request the appropriate Board action. 6 

    ATTORNEY MONAGHAN:  Thomas Monaghan, 7 

once again, with the OEC.  The next matter on the 8 

Agenda for the Board's consideration is the suspension 9 

of the Gaming Employee Permit issued to Richard Brown. 10 

    In April of 2019 Mr. Brown was 11 

arrested and charged with a felony, carrying of a 12 

concealed firearm without a license.  The charges 13 

remain pending in Chester County. 14 

    At this time OEC requests that the 15 

Board suspend the Gaming Employee Permit issued to 16 

Richard Brown. 17 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 18 

the Board?   19 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 20 

    MS. SMYLER:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 21 

the Board approve the suspension of Richard Brown's 22 

Gaming Employee Occupation Permit as described by the 23 

OEC. 24 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second. 25 
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    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 1 

AYES RESPOND  2 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   3 

    The motion's adopted. 4 

    ATTORNEY MCALLISTER:  Good afternoon, 5 

Chairman Barasch, members of the Board.  Bradley 6 

McAllister, M-C-A-L-L-I-S-T-E-R.   7 

    The next matter on the Agenda for the 8 

Board's consideration, the suspension of the  9 

Non-Gaming Employee Registration issued to Mikahnique 10 

Youngblood.   11 

    On or about March 20th, 2019, while 12 

patronizing a restaurant, Ms. Youngblood stole credit 13 

cards from another patron at the restaurant - used the 14 

stolen credit cards to make unauthorized purchases.  15 

As a result, Ms. Youngblood was criminally charged 16 

with theft by unlawful taken and receiving stolen 17 

property, both graded as a felony of the third degree. 18 

    As - according to the criminal 19 

document, the felony charges remain pending.  At this 20 

time, the OEC requests that the Board suspend the  21 

Non-Gaming Employee Registration issued to Ms. 22 

Mikahnique Youngblood. 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 24 

the Board?  25 
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    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 1 

    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 2 

the Board approve the suspension of Mikahnique 3 

Youngblood's Non-Gaming Employee Registration as 4 

described by the OEC. 5 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 7 

AYES RESPOND 8 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   9 

    The motion's adopted. 10 

    ATTORNEY CROHE:  John Crohe, once 11 

again, for the OEC.  The next matter on the Agenda for 12 

the Board's consideration is the revocation of the G2 13 

Employee Permit issued to Mark Crescenzi for his 14 

involvement in the scheme to steal from Mohegan Sun 15 

Pocono by uploading free slot play on the Players' 16 

Club Cards and having a patron convert that free slot 17 

play into cash. 18 

    Mr. Crescenzi was subsequently charged 19 

with access device fraud and possession of counterfeit 20 

access device and terminated from Mohegan Sun.  The 21 

OEC now requests the Board revoke the G2 Employee 22 

Permit held by Mark Crescenzi.   23 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 24 

the Board?   25 
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    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 1 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 2 

the Board approve the revocation of Mark Crescenzi's 3 

G2 Employee Occupation Permit described by the OEC. 4 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 6 

AYES RESPOND 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   8 

    The motion's adopted. 9 

    ATTORNEY MILLER:  Good afternoon, 10 

Chairman Barasch and Members of the Board.  Dustin 11 

Miller on behalf of the OEC.   12 

    Next on the Agenda for the Board's 13 

consideration is the Complaint to revoke the Gaming 14 

Employee Occupation Permit issued to Mellina Santos.  15 

While employed as a Cage Cashier at SugarHouse Casino, 16 

Ms. Santos engaged in unsuitable behavior by 17 

intentionally overpaying a patron $200. 18 

    Ms. Santos was terminated from 19 

SugarHouse Casino for her actions.  She is not 20 

presently employed in Pennsylvania's gaming industry. 21 

Accordingly, the OEC requests that the Board revoke 22 

Ms. Santos Gaming Employee Occupation Permit. 23 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you. 24 

    Questions or comments from the Board? 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

91

Hearing none, may I have a motion? 1 

    MS. REITZEL:  Mr. Chairman, I move 2 

that the Board approve the revocation of Mellina 3 

Santos' Gaming Employee Occupation Permit as described 4 

by the OEC. 5 

    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 7 

AYES RESPOND 8 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion is 9 

adopted. 10 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  The remaining matters 11 

on the Agenda consist of enforcement actions in which 12 

the OEC filed Petitions seeking the involuntary 13 

exclusion of individuals whose presence in a licensed 14 

facility are inimical to the interests of the 15 

Commonwealth and/or licensed gaming therein.   16 

     In each instance the Petition for 17 

Exclusion has been filed with the Board's OHA and 18 

properly served upon the individual named in the 19 

Petition. 20 

    The individual named in the Petition 21 

failed to respond within 30 days, as required by Board 22 

Regulation.  As a result, the OEC filed a Request for 23 

Default Judgment in each instance and properly served 24 

the same upon each named individual.  Therefore, all 25 
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the facts in each Petition are deemed admitted.   1 

    All filed documents have been provided 2 

to the Board and the matters are presently ripe for 3 

Board consideration.  In each instance if the Board 4 

orders the proposed exclusion, each individual's 5 

photo, personal identifiers, and a summary of their 6 

inimical conduct will be placed on the Board's public 7 

website. 8 

    ATTORNEY MILLER:  Dustin Miller, once 9 

again, on behalf of the OEC.  Next on the Agenda for 10 

the Board's consideration is a request to place Phuong 11 

Nguyen on the Board's Involuntary Exclusion List.   12 

    Ms. Nguyen left an infant child 13 

unattended in a vehicle in the parking lot at 14 

SugarHouse Casino while she was in the casino for 15 

approximately 31 minutes gaming.  On April 5th, 2019 16 

Ms. Nguyen pleaded guilty to endangering the welfare 17 

of children, a first-degree misdemeanor. 18 

    Accordingly, the OEC requests that the 19 

Board place Ms. Nguyen on the Board's Involuntary 20 

Exclusion List. 21 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 22 

the Board?  Hearing none, may I have a motion? 23 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 24 

that the Board approve the addition of Phuong Nguyen 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

93

to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List as described by 1 

the OEC. 2 

    MS. SMYLER:  Second. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 4 

AYES RESPOND 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 6 

adopted. 7 

    ATTORNEY MILLER:  Next on the Agenda 8 

for the Board's consideration is the request to place 9 

Julie Renaldi on the Exclusion List.   10 

    On December 31st, 2018 Ms. Renaldi 11 

entered a vehicle in the Rivers Casino parking garage, 12 

extracted a firearm and fired a shot toward the 13 

ceiling.  When the gun was fired, there were patrons 14 

of the casino in the vicinity and the matter was 15 

reported by a patron to security.   16 

    Ms. Renaldi was charged and pled 17 

guilty to disorderly conduct and an unlawful discharge 18 

of a firearm in relation to the incident. 19 

    At this time the OEC requests the 20 

placement of Julie Renaldi on the PGCB's Involuntary 21 

Exclusion List. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 23 

the Board?   24 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 25 
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    MS. SMYLER:  Mr. Chairman, I move the 1 

Board approve the addition of Julie Ann Renaldi to the 2 

PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List as described by the 3 

OEC. 4 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Second. 5 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 6 

AYES RESPOND 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 8 

adopted. 9 

    ATTORNEY CROHE:  John Crohe again, on 10 

behalf of the Enforcement Counsel.  The next matter on 11 

the Agenda for the Board's consideration is the 12 

placement of Stephen Fornwalt on the Board Involuntary 13 

Exclusion List. 14 

    Stephen Fornwalt stole a cell phone 15 

and a cell phone case containing two credit cards and 16 

cash from another patron while gaming at Mohegan Sun 17 

Pocono.  He was charged with theft, receiving stolen 18 

property and conspiracy.  19 

    The OEC now requests that the Board 20 

place Stephen Fornwalt on the Involuntary Exclusion 21 

List. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 23 

the Board?  Hearing none, may I have a motion? 24 

    MR. KERNODLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move 25 
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that the Board approve the addition of Stephen 1 

Fornwalt, Jr. to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List 2 

as described by the OEC. 3 

    MR. LOGAN:  Second. 4 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 5 

AYES RESPOND 6 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  7 

    The motion's adopted. 8 

    ATTORNEY MONAGHAN:  Thomas Monaghan, 9 

once again, with the OEC.  The next two matters on the 10 

Board's Agenda are related.  With the Board's 11 

permission, I will read one set of facts for both 12 

individuals. 13 

    On April 28, 2019 Natalia Vilnius and 14 

Sairhei Kazialefski attempted to enter Parx Casino 15 

with a ten-year-old child but were turned away by 16 

Security.  The two individuals and the child entered 17 

their vehicle and Ms. Vilnius and Mr. Kazialefski 18 

exited, leaving the child in the vehicle and returned 19 

to the casino, where they gamed at slot machines for 20 

approximately 21 minutes. 21 

    At this time OEC requests that the 22 

Board place Natalia Vilnius on the Board's Involuntary 23 

Exclusion List. 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 25 
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the Board?   1 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 2 

    MR. LOGAN:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 3 

the Board approve the addition of Natalia Vilnius to 4 

the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List as described by 5 

the OEC. 6 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Second. 7 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 8 

AYES RESPOND 9 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   10 

    The motion's adopted. 11 

    ATTORNEY MONAGHAN:  At this time, OEC 12 

requests that the Board placed Sairhei Kazialefski on 13 

the Board's Involuntary Exclusion List. 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 15 

the Board?   16 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 17 

    MR. MUSTIO:  Mr. Chairman, I move that 18 

the Board approve the addition of Sairhei Kazialefski 19 

to the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List as described by 20 

the OEC. 21 

    MS. REITZEL:  Second. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 23 

AYES RESPOND 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   25 
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    The motion's adopted. 1 

    ATTORNEY MCALLISTER:  Bradley 2 

McAllister, on behalf of the OEC.  Final matter on the 3 

Agenda for the Board's consideration is a Petition for 4 

the placement of Frank Savage on the Board's 5 

Involuntary Exclusion List.   6 

    On May 6th, 2019 Mr. Savage left his 7 

eight-year-old child unattended in the parking lot at 8 

SugarHouse Casino for approximately 24 minutes while 9 

he entered the casino and engaged in gaming activity. 10 

    Mr. Savage was issued a permanent 11 

eviction by SugarHouse for his conduct.  At this time, 12 

the OEC requests that the Board place Frank Savage on 13 

the Board's Involuntary Exclusion List. 14 

    CHAIRMAN:  Questions or comments from 15 

the Board.   16 

    Hearing none, may I have a motion? 17 

    MS. REITZEL:  Mr. Chairman, I move 18 

that the Board approve the addition of Frank Savage to 19 

the PGCB Involuntary Exclusion List as described by 20 

the OEC. 21 

    MR. SANTONI:  Second. 22 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 23 

AYES RESPOND 24 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?   25 
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    The motion's adopted. 1 

    ATTORNEY PITRE:  Thank you.  That 2 

concludes our business. 3 

    CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.   4 

    That concludes today's meeting.  The 5 

next public meeting will be held on Wednesday, 6 

November 20th at 10:00 a.m. in this room. 7 

    May I have a motion to adjourn? 8 

    MR. SANTONI:  Mr. Chairman, I move 9 

that we adjourn. 10 

    MS. SMYLER:  Second. 11 

    CHAIRMAN:  All in favor? 12 

AYES RESPOND 13 

    CHAIRMAN:  All opposed?  The motion's 14 

adopted and the meeting is adjourned. 15 

* * * * * * * 16 

MEETING CONCLUDED AT 1:05 P.M. 17 

* * * * * * * 18 

 19 

 20 
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 24 

 25 
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CERTIFICATE 1 

 I hereby certify that the foregoing proceeding 2 

was reported by me on 10/30/2019 and that I, Cynthia 3 

Piro Simpson, read this transcript, and that I attest 4 

that this transcript is a true and accurate record of 5 

the proceeding. 6 

Dated the 4th day of December, 2019 7 
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